

Elective Home Education

Guide for Parents – January 2021



Guide for Parents

January 2021

Contents

Section 1: What is elective home education?	3
Section 2: What is suitable education?	4
Section 3: What are the duties of parents?	6
Safeguarding Responsibilities	6
Section 4: If I decide to educate my child at home, what do I need to do?	7
What happens next?	7
How can I show evidence of suitable education?	8
What if it appears to the LA that a suitable education is not being provided?	8
What should I do if I want my child to return to school?	8
Section 5: Local authority duties and responsibilities	9
Education Provision Responsibilities	9
Safeguarding Responsibilities	9
Section 6: Children with Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND)	. 11
Section 7: Gifted and Talented Children	. 12
Section 8: Our pledge to you and your child	. 13
Section 9: Useful Contacts	. 14
Section 10: Useful Websites and Resources	. 16
Section 11: Glossary	17

Section 1: What is elective home education?

- 1.1. Whilst education is compulsory, school is not.
- 1.2. We recognise that there are many approaches to providing home education and that this does not have to follow a 'school at home' model.
- 1.3. Elective home education can be delivered in a variety of ways and locations, with learning taking place not just in the family home but in other venues such as libraries, museums, parks or community centres.
- 1.4. Elective home education is not the same as home tuition which is provided by local authorities for children with diagnosed medical needs that prevent them from attending school.
- 1.5. Choosing to electively home educate is a big decision and you may find it helpful to talk to other families that have decided to go down this route. It is worth considering the following before taking the step to educate at home:
 - Educating your child outside the school system requires a major commitment of your time.
 - There is no financial assistance for home educators.
 - Attendance at school is about more than just schoolwork; many lessons learned are about how to get on with other people.
 - It may be difficult for one person to provide a broad education across a range of subjects.
- 1.6. If you do decide to go ahead and home educate your child, you may choose to engage private tutors, other adults or to enrol your child at a tuition centre to assist you in providing a suitable education, but there is no requirement for you to do so. You can find out more about how to safely choose a Home Tutor through the Islington Safeguarding Children Board leaflet 'Choosing a Home Tutor', which you can find at; **Guidance on choosing a home tutor** -
- 1.7. By home educating your child, you will assume full responsibility for their education. This includes all aspects of education in the broadest sense, including your child's social and emotional development, as well as taking on full financial responsibility for their learning. This means that you will have to pay for any books, equipment, stationery, trips or tutors you choose to use and if you want your child to sit public examinations, you will need to bear the cost of entering them as private candidates.

Section 2: What is suitable education?

- 2.1 Section 7 of the Education Act 1996 states that:

 'The parent of every child of compulsory school age shall cause him to receive efficient full-time education suitable (a) to his age, ability and aptitude, and (b) to any special educational needs he may have, either by regular attendance at school or otherwise.'
- 2.2 Although 'efficient' and 'suitable' are not defined in the Education Act 1996, case law has broadly established an 'efficient' education to be one that 'achieves that which it sets out to achieve' and a 'suitable' education to be one that 'primarily equips a child for life within the community of which he is a member, rather than the way of life in the country as a whole, as long as it does not foreclose the child's options in later years to adopt some other form of life if he wishes to do so'.

 Justice Woolf in the case of R v Secretary of State for Education and Science, 12 April 1995.
- 2.3 The education you provide will need to be full-time, although there is no current legal definition of what 'full-time' means.
- 2.4 Children who attend school are usually timetabled to receive 25 hours education a week for 38 weeks of the year. Children who are being educated at home have greater flexibility around this amount of the contact time and do not need to follow a set timetable or have fixed times during the day or year when education will take place.
- 2.5 In coming to a decision on the amount of education that will be provided, you we will want to ensure there is sufficient time and opportunity for your child to assimilate what they have learnt, and to apply the skills and knowledge they have gained to other areas of their learning
- 2.6 Additional flexibilities available to you as a home educator include the option to choose:
 - whether to formally assess and mark work;
 - whether to follow the National Curriculum;
 - whether to enter your child for examinations;
 - how your child will engage with peers in either social or learning activities.
- 2.7 In coming to a view, you may wish to consider the impact of your choices should your child return to formal schooling later on or when they move on to further education, training or employment.
- 2.8 By choosing to home educate your child it is your responsibility to ensure that the education provided meets the statutory requirements outlined above.
- 2.9 As a guide, a suitable education programme should include the following

components:

- The consistent involvement of parents, or other significant carers. This provides positive reinforcement and enhances the learning experience;
- A programme that reflects your child's individual needs, attitudes and aspirations;
- Opportunities for your child to experience learning that is stimulating;
- Access to appropriate resources and materials, e.g. paper, pens, books, arts and crafts materials, visits to libraries, ICT equipment.
- Opportunities for appropriate interaction with other children and adults, e.g. social or sporting activities.

You should also consider how the education programme you provide will also help your child develop a range of life skills, for example:

- Communication skills
- Observation and awareness skills
- Problem solving skills
- Creative and imaginative skills
- Numerical skills
- Physical skills
- Personal and Social skills
- 2.10 If at any point you would like to discuss your options in greater detail, please feel free to contact us on 020 7527 3747 / **PupilServices@islington.gov.uk**, where your enquiry will be passed on to the appropriate person.

Section 3: What are the duties of parents?

- 3.1 It is the duty of each parent to:
 - Ensure that your school-age child is educated
 - Delegate that duty to a school, or carry it out yourself
 - Ensure the education provided is efficient and full-time
 - Ensure the education is suitable to the child's age, ability and aptitude
 - If you child has special educational needs, the education must meet their needs
- 3.2 Parents should not be encouraged to home educate in order to prevent action regarding poor school attendance or the risk of exclusion. These matters should be resolved with usual appropriate procedures. If this has happened to you, then please contact the Access and Engagement Service on 0207 527 3747 / PupilServices@islington.gov.uk.

Safeguarding Responsibilities

- 3.3 If you decide to employ other people to educate your child, voluntary or paid, you will continue to be responsible for the education provided. You will also be responsible for ensuring anyone you do engage is suitable to work with children.
- 3.4 If you chose to employ others, you are responsible for ensuring that those you engage are suitable to have access to children. It is strongly recommended that parents arrange for a Disclosure and Barring check before employment, and that arrangements are made for on-going supervision.
- 3.5 The Local Authority also has a duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children, including those who are home educated. In a small number of cases, the Local Authority may insist on seeing a child to enquire about their welfare where they may have grounds for concern e.g. if there were evidence of harm or neglect.

Section 4: If I decide to educate my child at home, what do I need to do?

- 4.1 If you chose to home educate your child, we want this to be a positive experience for both you and your child. We believe this is best achieved by working together in your child's best interests, recognising and respecting each other's rights and responsibilities.
- 4.2 You may decide to home educate your child from a very early age. If your child has never been registered at a state school there is no obligation to inform the local authority, but you are welcome to do so. In fact, we would encourage you to make contact with us so that we can signpost you to sources of support and offer practical assistance.
- 4.3 You can choose to home educate your child at any stage, bearing in mind that they must remain in some form of full-time education or training until the age of 18.
- 4.4 If your child is registered at a primary or secondary mainstream school, then you **must** inform the Headteacher in writing of your intention to home educate. Your child's name can only be removed from the register of a school after you have given written notification. The school will then send the local authority a copy of your letter and delete your child's name from the school's register. Once we receive the letter, we will place your child's name on the local authority's Elective Home Education register and make contact with you. Don't take your child out of school just because you have had a disagreement. Do talk to the Headteacher or the Local Authority.
- 4.5 It is different for children who are pupils at special schools, as to withdraw your child, consent of the Local Authority is needed. If your child is registered at a special school and you wish to home educate, you must inform the Headteacher in writing of your intention to do so. The school will then send us a copy of your letter. Your child's name will not be removed from the school's register until the local authority confirms that your child's Special Educational Needs &/ Disability are being met. You have a right to make representations to the Secretary of State where the Local Authority does not agree to home education in these circumstances.

What happens next?

- 4.6 We will send you this document, and an Elective Home Education Adviser will contact you requesting to visit you. After the visit, you will receive a written report of your discussion.
- 4.7 We will keep your child's education under review by invitation to a mutually convenient time and place and ask you to provide us with further/updated information within an agreed timescale. You do not have to provide this

information but we would encourage you to do so to facilitate opportunities and preventing your child missing out on their entitlement to a good education in whichever context it is delivered.

How can I show evidence of suitable education?

- 4.8 We will ask for evidence that you child is receiving an efficient and suitable education. You can show this in a number of ways:
 - Meet the LA representative at home to discuss work and progress.
 - Meet the LA representative elsewhere to discuss work and progress.
 - Write a report, with examples of dated work.
 - Have the work endorsed by a third party.
 - Evidence in another form.

What if it appears to the LA that a suitable education is not being provided?

- 4.9 Where it becomes evident that a child continues to receive unsuitable education, after reasonable amount of time and with several communication attempts of support and advice, the local authority has a duty to act under s437 (1) of the Education Act 1996. This often takes the form of issuing a School Attendance Order.
- 4.10 However, before coming to such a decision, we will always seek to address the matter with you face to face and resolve the situation informally therefore, the intention to serve a School Attendance Order, will be a last resort in most circumstances. At any stage parents may provide evidence that they are now providing suitable education.

What should I do if I want my child to return to school?

4.11 Your child's needs may change at different ages and stages so do keep your options open. You can make an application to any appropriate school at any time. You can find details of Islington Schools and admissions procedures on the Islington Council website at <u>Admissions details</u>

The website also has a 'Find my nearest school' facility.

Please note that if you decide to return your child to a mainstream school, you should continue with existing education arrangements until a place becomes available at one of your preferred schools. Please be aware that your child's admission application will be considered in line with the school's admission arrangements, and not prioritised above those on the waiting list.

Section 5: Local authority duties and responsibilities

Education Provision Responsibilities

- 5.1 Section 436A of the Education Act 1996, places a specific duty on local authorities to establish (as far as it is possible) the identities of children who are *neither* registered at a school *nor* in receipt of suitable full-time education.
- 5.2 As part of our duty to identify children not receiving a suitable education, we are expected to have effective monitoring and tracking procedures in place to ensure children can be swiftly returned to appropriate provision. We are therefore expected to work, and share information, with each other and partner agencies.
- 5.3 Although local authorities do not have a statutory duty to monitor the quality of home education on a routine basis, we are happy to offer advice and support as often as needed. In most circumstances we would recommend an annual review, although this is not a legal requirement of the local authority.
- 5.4 If you are struggling to provide a suitable education, for example due to a change of home circumstances, contact us and we will work with you to improve the education being provided by offering advice and guidance and signposting you to resources, organisations and information to support the delivery of suitable education.

Safeguarding Responsibilities

- 5.5 The welfare and protection of all children, including those who attend school or are educated otherwise, are of paramount importance and the responsibility of the whole community.
- 5.6 All agencies and individuals should aim to work together proactively to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children. For further details, please see Working Together to Safeguard Children, 2015: please see Working Together to Safeguard Children, 2015
- 5.6 Local authorities have general duties to make arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, (Education Act 2002 s175 and Children Act 2004 s10 and s11).
- 5.7 These powers allow local authorities to insist on seeing children in order to enquire about their welfare where there are grounds for concern (Children Act 1989 s17 and s47).
- 5.8 However, these powers cannot be used to see and question children who are

- being home educated for the sole purpose of establishing whether the education being provided is suitable.
- 5.9 There may be safeguarding and child protection issues that arise in relation to any child whether school or home educated.
- 5.10 If any safeguarding or child protection concerns come to light in the course of your child being registered as home educated, these concerns will be referred immediately to the appropriate agency.
- 5.11 Education services have a duty to share information with other agencies such as Children's Social Care, when there is a safeguarding concern about a child.

Section 6: Children with Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND)

- 6.1 If your child has a Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND), you also have the right to home educate. This right applies irrespective of whether or not your child has a Statement of Special Educational Needs (SEN) or an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP).
- 6.2 If your child does have a Statement of SEN or an EHCP and is being home educated, it remains the LA's duty to ensure that your child's needs are met through working in partnership with professionals, parents and the child.
- 6.3 Home educating parents can, at any time, ask the LA to carry out a statutory assessment of their child's needs. The LA will consider parental requests within the same timescales used for schools.
- 6.4 Where a Statement of SEN or an EHCP is agreed, the LA will review the provision outlined in the Statement or Plan at least once a year, and ensure the parent and child are invited to the Annual Review meeting.
- 6.5 Parents can, at any time, ask the LA to cease maintaining the Statement of SEN or EHCP and the LA will give the request due consideration.
- 6.6 In the same way as children who attend school, professionals named in the Statement of SEN or an EHCP may be consulted where necessary.

Section 7: Gifted and Talented Children

- 7.1 There are a number of organisations that offer parents support and advice on how to nurture and strengthen their child's potential.
- 7.2 Please note that in providing the information below we are not recommending these organisations to you, merely signposting you to sources of advice and support that may be of interest.
- 7.3 Website links and contact numbers are provided in Section 10.
- 7.4 **Potential Plus UK** is an independent charity that works with the whole family to support children with high learning potential (gifted and talented). Their aim is to work with parents and carers so that they can:
 - **DISCOVER** their child's potential;
 - NURTURE their gifts and talents;
 - Work with parents and also with professionals to help their child **SUCCEED.**
- 7.5 **National Association for Able Children in Education** (NACE), is a not for profit organisation, specialising in supporting teachers to provide excellent teaching and learning for able, gifted and talented pupils. They may also be able to provide parents with additional support/information.
- 7.6 **London Gifted and Talented** offers continuing professional development, resources and consultancy to improve the quality of gifted and talented teaching and learning. They work with students, teachers, schools, local authorities and organisations across the country and internationally. Their areas of expertise include creating classroom challenge, critical thinking, personalisation, quality first teaching, independent learning, assessment for learning, urban education, disadvantaged learners and collaborative elearning. Their aim is to inspire teachers and raise the achievement of all learners through an inclusive approach. They believe that all learners are entitled to be stretched and challenged and may be able to provide home educators with advice/guidance.

Section 8: Our pledge to you and your child

'No person shall be denied the right to education. In the exercise of any functions which it assumes in relation to education and to teaching, the State shall respect the right of parents to ensure such education and teaching is in conformity with their own religious and philosophical convictions.'

European Convention on Human Rights, 1950: Article 2, Protocol 1

- 8.1 As highlighted above, we believe the best way of securing good outcomes for your child is for us to work together cooperatively in your child's best interests, recognising and respecting each other's rights and responsibilities.
- 8.2 Our pledge to you and your child can be summarised as follows:
 - We will treat you and your child with the same respect and fairness as shown to parents educating their children at school;
 - We will aim to be clear, consistent, timely and non-intrusive in our communications with you and ensure information relating to your rights and responsibilities is easily accessible and transparent;
 - We will remain on hand to support you throughout the period you choose to home educate;
 - We will offer you support as and when you need it, and remain quietly in the background when you do not.
- 8.3 We recognise that there are many approaches to providing home education, and that this does not have to follow a 'school at home' model. You understand your child's needs and how best to engage them in the learning process.
- 8.4 We will respect the diversity of approaches to providing an efficient and suitable education otherwise than at school.
- 8.5 We recognise the need for an adjustment period while you find an approach to learning that best suit your child's needs.
- 8.6 We will listen to you and your child's views.
- 8.7 We will operate within Islington Council's Dignity for All, local Safeguarding and Child Protection and Customer Care Standards.
- 8.8 We will review policies and procedures regularly.
- 8.9 We aim to develop a positive and trusting relationship with you and your child.

Section 9: Useful Contacts

Islington Access and Engagement Service (AES)

Municipal Offices 222 Upper Street Islington London N1 1XR

T 020 7527 3747

E <u>PupilServices@islington.gov.uk</u>

Islington Special Education Needs & Disability (SEND) Service

Municipal Offices 222 Upper Street Islington London N1 1XR

T 020 7527 5640 E sen@islington.gov.uk

Lift & Pulse

An outstanding venue for young people aged 13-19. Facilities include 30 station gym, huge dance studio and professional kitchen. Advice and guidance are on hand for job applications, apprenticeships, CVs, volunteering and lifestyle issues. **PULSE** can help with health queries in fully equipped clinical facilities.

Platform

An amazing youth arts venue offering young people aged 13-19 opportunities to take part in creative activities. The venue includes a theatre, performance space, media suites, a recording studio, dance studio and a café. Young people can attend for personal help with apprenticeships, college applications, volunteering or developing their own projects. For further information visit: **Platform**

Islington Family Information Service

Islington Family Information Service (FIS) gives free, impartial information, advice and guidance about services for children, young people and families. The helpline is open from 9am to 4pm, Monday to Friday. Outside those times you can leave a message and someone will get back to you.

T 020 7527 5959

E fis@islington.gov.uk

Islington Complaints Procedure

The procedure for complaints about children's services is different from the council's general complaints procedure. If you have a complaint, you should first try to resolve it with the line manager providing the service. If you cannot resolve it locally, please write to the relevant complaints officer at the offices below.

Children's Customer Care and Complaints Manager 3 Elwood Street Islington London N5 1EB

T 020 7527 8048 F 020 7354 9742

E <u>childrenssocialcare.complaints@islington.gov.uk</u>

Section 10: Useful Websites and Resources

The Reading Agency

Qualifications and Curriculum Authority

Parent Champion Community

London Gifted and Talented

Islington's Elective Home Education webpage

Islington Family Directory

Islington Library Services.

Oxford Owl Free E Books

Islington Youth Social Media

Islington Youth Council

Islington's Progress Team

Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) information

<u>Islington Safeguarding Children's Board – Choosing a Tutor</u>

<u>Home Education Advisory Service – offers information for home educators</u>

<u>CGP Books – from primary to A Level; revision and practice material</u>

Inclusion of links to any website should not be seen as an endorsement of that website; any views expressed within external websites are those of the sites owners.

Section 11: Glossary

Access and Engagement Service (AES)

The objective of the Access and Engagement Service is to support schools, children and families to secure good attendance and engagement, and ensure that all children are properly safeguarded by:

- Advising schools in their delivery of a whole school approach to promoting good attendance and engagement.
- Operating to a code of conduct.
- Empowering parents to meet their legal responsibilities regarding school attendance through statutory action.
- Supporting efficient and effective partnerships in the best interests of the child or young person.

The service will always act in the best interests of the child. Children will be consulted when major decisions are taken about them whenever they are able to understand the implications, and formal action will not be taken in relation to a child unless clearly in his or her best interests.

Aptitude

A natural ability to do something.

Compulsory school age

Compulsory school age starts on the 1st January, 1st April or 1st September following a child's 5th birthday. Compulsory school age ends on the last Friday of June during the year that a child becomes 16 (provided that the child's birthday is before the beginning of the next school year).

Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP)

Since September 2014, children with Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) no longer are issued with statements. All new assessments undertaken may result in being issued with Education, Health & Care Plans (EHCP). All existing statements of SEN remain until being reviewed, at which they could be converted into EHCPs.

Local Authority

A Local Authority is an organisation that is officially responsible for public services and facilities in a particular geographical area (e.g. Islington).

Maintained schools

A local education authority (Education and Library Board in Northern Ireland) maintained school is one that is funded by the local education authority and will be one of the following:

- Foundation school.
- Community school.
- Voluntary controlled school.
- Voluntary aided school.
- Nursery school.
- Special school.

Mainstream schools

A Mainstream School is any school that principally meets the needs of pupils who do not have special educational needs.

National Curriculum

The national curriculum is a set of subjects and standards used by primary and secondary maintained schools in England so children learn the same things. It covers what subjects are taught and the standards children should reach in each subject.

Non-Maintained schools

There are various sorts of schools that are not maintained by the local education authority (Education and Library Board in Northern Ireland), which include:

- Independent schools.
- City technology colleges.
- Academies.
- Special schools not maintained by the local education authority (Education and Library Board in Northern Ireland).
- Early learning organisations.

Participation age

A child who has reached the end of compulsory school age, but has not yet reached the age of 18 years, must stay in some form of education or training.

Public examinations

An examination that is set by a central examining board, such as a GCSE exam.

Special schools

A Special school is a school catering for students who have been assessed as having special educational needs.

Pupil Services 222 Upper Street, London, N1 1XR

PupilServices@islington.gov.uk 020 7527 3747

www.islington.gov.uk